
CITY OF RICHARDSON 
CITY PLAN COMMISSION MINUTES – NOVEMBER 15, 2022 

The Richardson City Plan Commission met on November 15, 2022, at 7:00 p.m. in the Richardson 
ISD Administration Building, School Board Meeting Room, 400 S. Greenville Ave., Richardson, 
Texas. 

MEMBERS PRESENT: Bryan Marsh, Chairman 
  Stephen Springs, Vice Chairman 
  Kenneth Southard, Commissioner 
  Nate Roberts, Commissioner 
  Sibyl LaCour, Commissioner 
  Michael Keller, Commissioner 
  Gary Beach, Commissioner 
 
MEMBERS ABSENT: Joe Costantino, Commissioner 
  Gwen Walraven, Commissioner 
   
CITY STAFF PRESENT: Sam Chavez, Director - Development Services 

Chris Shacklett, Asst. Director of Development Svcs. – Planning 
  Connie Ellwood, Executive Secretary 
 
BRIEFING SESSION 
Prior to the start of the regular business meeting, the City Plan Commission met with staff 
regarding staff reports and agenda items. No action was taken. 

REGULAR BUSINESS MEETING 
 
1. Approval of Minutes of the regular business meeting of November 1, 2022. 

 
Motion: Commissioner Southard made a motion to approve the minutes as presented; 

Seconded by Commissioner Beach. Motion passed 7-0. 
 
PUBLIC HEARING 
 
2. Zoning File 22-13 – Special Permit – Seven Brew Coffee: Consider and act on a request to 

rescind Ordinance 4250, a Special Permit for a dog daycare and boarding facility, and for 
approval of a Special Permit for a restaurant with drive-through service, on a 0.62-acre lot 
currently zoned LR-M(2) Local Retail, located at 1230 E. Belt Line Road, on the south side of 
Belt Line Road, west of Plano Road. Property Owner: Brian Waxler, GMC Pursuit JV, LLC. 

Staff: Chris Shacklett. 
 
Mr. Shacklett began by stating Zoning File 22-13 was a request for approval of a Special Permit 
for a restaurant with drive-through service and to rescind Ordinance 4250, a Special Permit for 
a dog daycare and boarding facility that vacated the site in 2020. The 0.62-acre lot was located 
at 1230 E. Belt Line Road. It was developed in 1985 as a 3,838-square foot restaurant. The site 

APPROVED



 
Richardson City Plan Commission Minutes 
November 15, 2022  2 
 

was surrounded by other retail properties that were zoned LR-M(2) Local Retail and C-M 
Commercial.  In 2006, a Special Permit was granted to allow a dog day care and boarding 
facility within the existing building as well as to allow a 675-square foot outdoor play area 
along the south property line. In 2017 and 2018 amendments to the Special Permit were made 
related to changes of owners and operators of the facility. In 2020, the tenant relocated, and 
the building had vacant since that time.  
 
The site would be redeveloped with a 660-square foot restaurant with drive-through service 
only. There was a dual drive-through configuration. There would be no menu boards provided 
within the drive-through areas. Staff would be stationed throughout the drive-through lanes 
with handheld devices or tablets to take orders and to ensure proper stacking within the drive-
through lanes. There were thirteen (13) stacking spaces within the dual drive-through lanes 
with capacity for an additional five (5) spaces on-site. The hours of operation would be 5:30 
a.m. to 10:00 p.m. (Sunday through Thursday) and 5:30 a.m. to 11:00 p.m. (Friday and 
Saturday). The applicant stated that at peak times, there were eight (8) to ten (10) employees 
working at this facility. Thirteen (13) parking spaces were being provided. A covered seating 
area for employee use only was located on the west side of the building. 
 
There were two (2) access points along Belt Line Road. The western driveway being located 
at an existing median opening and the eastern driveway being right in/right out to Belt Line 
Road. These were existing driveway openings and drive aisles. Access was allowed between 
the subject property and the surrounding properties through existing access easements. Site 
circulation through and around the site was two-way circulation. Customers entering the site 
would be required to enter at the driveway along the west property line and circulate in a 
counter-clockwise fashion into the drive-through lanes, around the building, and then exiting 
out the western driveway. There was an exit-only at the south end of the drive aisle along the 
west side of the building near the entrance to the drive-through lanes. This would allow for 
someone to exit the site should they decide they do not want to go through the drive-through. 
This also ensured all customers were entering the site for stacking at the same location. 
 
Mr. Shacklett presented the building elevations, stating the building would be a prefabricated 
building that was fully finished on the exterior and interior.  The applicant would speak more 
to the elevations during their presentation as some changes had been made. The proposed 
exterior façade materials included a combination of fiber cement panels to replicate the look 
of brick and stone, architectural metal panels and painted steel canopies and roof elements. 
Painted metal louvered screens would be used to screen rooftop equipment.  He further 
commented that due to House Bill (HB 2439) that was passed on September 1, 2019, precluded 
the City from enforcing the masonry requirements of the City’s Zoning Ordinance. 
 
Mr. Shacklett provided a summary of the request which included rescinding Ordinance 4250 
and approval of a Special Permit for a restaurant with drive-through service only, which would 
be limited to Seven Brew Drive-thru Coffee. 
 
Mr. Shacklett concluded his presentation stating there had been no correspondence received in 
favor or in opposition to the request, then made himself available for questions. 
 

APPROVED



 
Richardson City Plan Commission Minutes 
November 15, 2022  3 
 

Chairman Marsh asked for clarification on how long the site had been vacant. 
 
Mr. Shacklett responded The Velvet Snout relocated from the location in 2020 to a location on 
Hampshire Lane. 
 
Chairman Marsh asked about the green space on the site plan exhibit and was it representative 
of proposed landscaping.  
 
Mr. Shacklett stated the areas were representative of landscaped areas, and it could include 
turf, xeriscaping, or planting beds Paving would not be allowed. Staff had not had specific 
discussions with the applicant regarding the landscape design; however, these areas would be 
required to meet City requirements for landscaped area.  
 
Chairman Marsh inquired about a comparison between how much landscaping was currently 
provided versus what was proposed. 
 
Mr. Shacklett stated the minimum required landscaping was 7%. The applicant was proposing 
25% landscaping. The existing site was sparsely landscaped. There was no landscape buffer 
along Belt Line Road and very minimal landscaping along the other three (3) edges of the site. 
 
Chairman Marsh commented that there was a left turn lane on westbound Belt Line Road that 
provided access to the western driveway. There were traffic signals at both Plano Road and 
Glenville Drive, and the site was mid-block between these intersections allowing for easy 
access to the site traveling westbound on Belt Line Road. Additionally, there were two (2) exit 
points; one on the west driveway and the other on the east driveway. On the western driveway, 
you would be able to make a left turn to go west on Belt Line Road but not from the eastern 
driveway. 
 
Mr. Shacklett concurred with Chairman Marsh’s comments. He also clarified that the eastern 
driveway was right in/right out. 
 
With no further questions for staff, Chairman Marsh asked the applicant to come forward to 
make his presentation. 
 
Mr. Brandon Layman, 3719 Pageant Place, Dallas, Texas came forward to speak on behalf of 
the request. Mr. Layman spoke on behalf High Octane Joe’s who was the North Texas 
Franchisee for Seven Brew Coffee. He stated the concept was new within the North Texas area 
but was born out of a desire to change the landscape of drive-through coffee by creating a fun, 
atmosphere around what was typically a transactional exchange. They do this by employing 
their crew members (Brew Crew) throughout their drive-through lanes to act as ambassadors 
for the brand and engage directly with customers. The concept began in 2017 in Rogers, 
Arkansas. Currently there were thirty-three (33) open locations. The most recently opened 
location and nearest location was in Grand Prairie, Texas. 
 
Mr. Layman went on to clarify that the building would be built from the ground up and not a 
prefabricated building as originally proposed. He stated the building would look the same as 

APPROVED



 
Richardson City Plan Commission Minutes 
November 15, 2022  4 
 

the elevations that were presented. He thanked staff and the Commission for the opportunity 
to speak and made himself available for questions. 
 
Chairman Marsh commented that he visited Seven Brew Coffee’s website, and there appeared 
to be lots of energy and a fun atmosphere for which to provide service to customers. He asked 
if there were outdoor speakers or music at their sites. 
 
Mr. Layman responded no, there were no outdoor speakers or music. Additionally, he 
commented they did not have traditional menu boards with speakers either.  
 
Commissioner LaCour asked where the menus were displayed. 
 
Mr. Layman responded a customer would be able to view a menu with their phone through a 
QR Code as they are going through the drive-through lanes. The concept was digital. There 
would also be a series of posters that would have the menu items displayed. 
 
Commissioner Southard asked if there was an app that provided the menu. 
 
Mr. Layman responded there is not currently an app available. He stated the website has a link 
where one can pull up the menu. 
 
Commissioner Beach asked if food was also served. 
 
Mr. Layman responded only coffee and other types of beverages were served. 
 
Commissioner Roberts asked how many regional locations were open. 
 
Mr. Layman responded there would be three (3) locations to include Grand Prairie, Mansfield 
and Waxahachie, Texas open by the end of the year. 
 
Commissioner Roberts asked which locations were currently open. 
 
Mr. Layman responded Grand Prairie and Longview were the only locations open in the area. 
 
Chairman Marsh asked where the remainder of the thirty-three (33) restaurants were located. 
 
Mr. Layman responded the restaurants were located in Texas, South Carolina, Arkansas, 
Kansas, and Missouri. 
 
Chairman Marsh asked how a decision was made to locate in Richardson. 
 
Mr. Layman responded they locate where the business is and that they hope to develop more 
locations throughout the D/FW area. 
 
Commissioner Roberts asked the applicant if the Grand Prairie location was operating to plan. 
 

APPROVED



 
Richardson City Plan Commission Minutes 
November 15, 2022  5 
 

Mr. Layman responded, yes. 
 
With no further questions for the applicant, Chairman Marsh opened the public hearing and 
asked if there was anyone that wanted to speak in favor or opposition to the request. 
 
Seeing none, Chairman Marsh asked for further deliberation or a recommendation from the 
Commission. 
 
Chairman Marsh commented on previous discussions regarding drive-through restaurants at or 
near the Belt Line Road and Plano Road intersection and that the properties on either side of 
this property were drive-through restaurants. He stated he felt the application was an interesting 
concept and that the current vacant building had become a bit of an eyesore. He liked the fact 
that the site would have more landscaping on the property than what currently existed. He 
stated the movie theater to the south would likely pose minimal congestion during  peak hours 
for either use, and there were other forms of egress from the movie theater site and surrounding 
properties. He felt it was a good concept and would be supporting the application.  
 
Commissioner Southard asked the applicant about their timeframe for developing and opening 
the restaurant. 
 
Mr. Layman responded as soon as they receive approvals from City Planning Commission and 
City Council, they would be moving forward with development plans, permit submittal, and 
construction as soon as possible.  
 
Commissioner Beach commented he would like to see a building and piece of land occupied 
as opposed to being vacant. This business model made sense for the area and the surrounding 
businesses. 
 
Commissioner Roberts commented that the intersection was a very busy one; however, having 
traveled through there at various times of day, he had no issues with traffic. He felt the addition 
of this business would not negatively impact the traffic in the area. 

 
Motion: Commissioner Roberts made a motion to close the public hearing and 

recommend approval of Zoning File 22-13 – Special Permit – Seven Brew 
Coffee as presented. Seconded by Commissioner Beach. Motion Passed 7-0. 

 
ADJOURN 
 
With no further business before the Commission, Chairman Marsh adjourned the regular 
business meeting at 7:31 p.m. 
 
 
 
 
__________________________________ 
Bryan Marsh, Chairman 

APPROVED




